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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

RALPH NADER,
Plaintiff
V. Civil Action No. 10-989(RCL)

FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION,

N S N N N N N N N N

Defendant

)
MEMORANDUM OPINION

Before the Court are plaintiff's Motion [16] for Summary Judgment and deféadant
crossMotion [18] for Summary Judgment. Having carefully considered the Motions,
Oppositions, Replies, the entire record in this case, andpihiecable law, the Court will grant
defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgmanid deny plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment
A review of the background of the case, the governing law, the parties’ arguectthe
Court’s reasoning in resolving those arguments follows.

l. BACKGROUND

In May 2008, érmer IndependentParty Presidential candidate Ralph Nader filed an
administrative complaint with the Federal Election Commission (“FE@GR at 1. He alleged a
conspiracyby many individuals law firms, and plitical organizationsaffiliated with the
Democratic Partyo denyhim andhis running mate, Pet€&amejq ballot access in 18 states as
candidates for President and Vice President of the United States in the 20@4 gjenton. Id.
at 2. This effor@allegedlyresulted in violations of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971,
as amended (“FECA” or “At}. Id. at 3.

Nader’'scomplaint contained three counts. Coliatleged that the Democratic National

Committee (“DNC”), “18 state or local Democratic Parties, the ké&tdyvards Campaign, the
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Ballot Project; and “at least 95 lawyers from 53 law firmsiade unreported contributions to the
Kerry—EdwardsCampaign, in violation of 2 U.S.C. 88 434, 445kad 441b. Id. at 90-93.
Nadets theory was thathe value of the legal services provided by law firms and individual
lawyers who assisted in ballot challenges to Nadamejoconstituted “contributions” to either
the DNC or the KerryEdwards Campaignand therefore resulted in violations of FECA’s
repoting requirements and contribution limits, as welitahan on corporate contributionsd.

at 91. Count 2 accused tBervice Employees International Union (“SEIU”) an8ection527
group called America Coming Together (“ACT”) of makingreported contributions in
connection with an effort to deny Nad@&amejo ballot access in Oregon, in violation of 2
U.S.C. 88441b(g and 44&(a)(2)(B). Id. at 93-94. Count 3 alleged that several Section 527
organizations violatednter alia, 2 U.S.C. 88 48 and 441y failing to registewith the FEC
and report contributiond.d. at 95-98.

The FEC assigned Nader's complanMatter Under Review (“MUR”) number of 6021,
and notified him that the “respondent(s)” in the complaint would receive notice witkan fi
business daysd. at 576, as is required by FECA. 2 U.S.C. 8§ 437g(a)(1). Although Nader’'s
complaintallegedthat hundreds of individuals arehtitiesviolated FECAthe agencynitially
notified only David Thorne (treasurer of Kerffdwards 2004Inc.), AR at 577, and Andrew
Tobias (treasurer of the DNC)d. at 579. The FEC decided to limit the numbepefsons and
entitiesit would notify because it believed (erroneously) that Nader’'s complaintdug$icative
of previous MURs dismissing similar ajjations,” and because limiting the number of notices
would “reserve resources” and comport with“practice of avoiding ovenotification.” 1d. at
1730.06. Also, at some point in the FEC’s consideration of Nader's compiasmssigned to it

an “Enforcement Priority Systefirating of “70/TIER: 1,” indicating that th&ladermatter had



beendeemed at least initially,to be of a high enforcement prioritySee id. at 1730.02; Pl.’s
Notice [22] 2.

In September 2008and again in January 2009), Mr. Nader supplemented his complaint,
naming dozens of additional alleged violators of FE&#A addingvhat amounted ta fourth
count,which assertedhat Pennsylvania state employdesl worked on petition challenges at
taxpayer expense to prevent Green Partyinee Carl Romanelli from appearing on the ballot
as an Independent candidate for United States Senate in 2006. AR &&l§09n September
2008 the FEC decided to notityre various Section 527 groups that Nader, in Coumlé&med
had failed to regiter as political committeedd. at 729 (American Coming Together (“ACT")),
731 (Uniting People for Victory), 733 (United Progressitar Victory), 735 (National Progress
Fund), 737 (Americans for Jobs), 739 (The Ballot Project).In

In November 200%he FEC’s General Counselhomasenia P. Duncan, submited2
page reporto the Commissiothatrecommendednter alia, that the Commission find no reason
to believe that the DNGheKerry Committee, their treasurers, or John Kerry personally viblate
FECA. Id. at 1730.32. The Commissionlater voted 60 in favor of the General Counsel’s
recommendatiosy and closed MUR 60211d. at 1816-11. Speifically, the Commission made
the following findings:

1. Find no reason to believe that the Democratic MafiocCommittee, and

Andrew Tobias, in his official capacity as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 88
441a(f), 441b and 434(b).

2. Find no reason to believe that Kerry for President 2004, Inc. and David
Thorne, in his official capacity as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 88 441b, 441a(f)
and 434(b).

3. Find no reason to believe that KerBdwards 2004, Inc. and David Thorne,
in his official capacity as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 88 441b, 441a(f) and
434(b).

4. Find no reason to believe that John Kerry violated the Federatidtle
Campaign Act of 1971, as amended, or the Commission’s regulations.
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5. Find no reason to believe that America Coming Together violated 2 U.S.C. 88§
434(b) and 44l1a(a)(1)(A) with respect to the allegation that it made an
undisclosed excessive-kind contribution.

6. Find no reason to believe America Coming Together violated 2 U.S.C. § 433.
7. Dismiss the complaint as to The Ballot Project.

8. Dismiss the complaint a tNational Progress Fund, Unitingeople for
Victory, and Americans for Jobs.

9. Dismiss the complaint as to America Coming Together with respect to the
allegation that it violated 2 U.S.C. § 434 by failing to report ballot
expenditures.

10.Approve the Factual and Legal Analyses, as recommended in the First
General Counsel’'s Report dated November 30, 2009 . . ..

11. Approve the appropriate letters.

12.Close the MUR 6021 file as to all Respondents and other persons and entities
named in the complaint, as supplemented.

Id. at 1810-11.

After MUR 6021 was closed, Nader filatlis complaint in this Courfor wrongful
dismissalpursuant to 2 U.S.G8 4379(8)(A) Compl. [1] 30. Nader claimedhat the FEC’s
decision was cordry to law arbitrary and capricious, and an abuse of discrdiemause the
agencyfailed to notify all of the respondents namexdthe administratie complaint and because
its decision to dismiss the complaint as to certain respondents and close the BRJR w
unsupportedld. at 1-2.

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Congress passed the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971 as a “comprehensive
approach to the problem of political campaign reform and excessively high campsign Its
provisions deal with the communications media, campaign contributions, disclosure and

reporting requirements, and tax incentives to encourage the small donor to contriliuee t



canddate or party of his choice.”Hernstadt v. FCC, 677 F.2d 893, 897 (D.C. Cir. 1980)
(quoting S. Rep. No. 96, 92d Cong., 1st Sess. 33 (1971)).

Under FECA, “[a]ny person who believes a violation of [the] Act . . . has occurred, may
file a complaint” withthe FEC. 2 U.S.C. § 437¢g(a)(1). Aftie agencyeviews the complaint
notifies alleged violators of the Atttat a complaint has been filed against thend provides an
opportunity for responsets six commissionersote on whether there is “reasam lhelieve” a
violation has occurredld. 8 437g(a)(2). liat leastfour commissioners find “reason to believe”
a violation has occurred, the FEC must begin an investigaknlf not, the FEC dismisses the
complaint, and the complainant canls@adicial review inthe United State®District Court for
the District of Columbia Id. 8 437g(a)(8):see also Hagelin v. FEC, 411 F.3d 237, 239 (D.
Cir. 2005).

This Courtmay set aside the FEC’s dismissal of Nader’'s complaint only if its action was
“contrary to law,” see 2 U.S.C. 8§ 437g(a)(8)e.g., “arbitrary or capricious, or an abuse of
discretion.” Hagelin, 411 F.3d at 242. This highly féeential standard presumes that the
agency'’s decision is valid, and allows reversal “only if the agency’s decision ssipypdrted by
substantial evidence, or the agency has made a clear error of judgnhén{citations and
guotation marks omitted). Courts must judge the propriety of the agency’s actionosotaky
grounds invoked by the agency, and a decisiditest than ideal clarity” must still be upheld so
long as “the agency’s path may reasonably be discern€drfimon Cause v. FEC, 906 F.2d
705, 706 (D.C. Cir. 1990) (citations and quotation marks omittédpngside its decisions to
prosecute and condurtvestigations, the FEC’s decisions to dismiss compla@rdentitled to
great deference as long as it supplies reasonable grodkds v. FEC, 736 F. Supp. 2d 9, 21

(D.D.C. 2010).



1. THE PARTIES’ MOTIONS [16, 18] FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Mr. Nader wants th&ECs decision to close MUR 6021 and dismiss the complaint as to
various groups and individuals set aside, arguing ttietagencygnored evidence, employed
faulty reasoning, and violated FECA'’s procedural rules by failing tdyneéich anavery one of
the hundreds of individuals, law firms, amblitical entities named in his administrative
complaint of the lawsuit filed against thenThe FEC seeks deference to its decisi@mnguing
that its determination thatan investigation should not be initiateds supported by the
administrative record aneasonable in the light of the insufgéncyof Nader’s allegations and
supporting evidencas well aghe significantadministrative burdeplaced uporthe agency by
Nader’'s575page administrative complainT.he Court will discuss these and other argumients
the context of the four counts Nader brought in his administrative complaint, as sugpltme

A. Count 1: lllegal and Unreported Contributions and Expenditures

The heart of Mr. Nader’'s administrative complaint is his allegation in Count 1 that
numerousindividuals, law firms, and political entitiemade “millions of dollars in illegal and
unreported contributions and expenditures to benefit the Kedwards Campaign.” AR at 91.
This general allegatiomvolves a number of independent legal violations. First, the Kerry
Edwards Campaign and the DNC are obligated under FECA to report contributions. Second,
candidates for federal officenay not knowingly receive contributions in excess of certain
statutoy limits. Third, the DNC and state political committees may not themselves make
contributions to the KersEdwards Campaign in excess of statutory limits. Finalhy, of the
law firms named in Nader's complaint that are organized in the corporate formohieitpd
from making contributionso the DNC or the KernEdwards CampaignAt the center of this
web of related violations is the questionvdiether the balleaccess legal work performed by

the dozens of lawyerand law firmsnamedin Nader’s corplaint constitutesa “contribution”
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under FECAthat is subject to its restriction8efore addressing thémd otheiissues, the Court
will consider the governing law.
1. Legal Standards

FECA contains numerous provisions relating to reporting by candidates and political
organizationsas well as limits on the amount of money groups and individuals can contribute.
Section 434 requires treasurers of political committees to file periegmrts of receipts and
disbursementwith the FEC 2 U.S.C. § 434(a)(1). These reports must disclometributions”
from various sources, including “persons other than political committéess§’434(b)(2)(A).

A “contribution” under the Actncludes “any gift, subscription, loan, advance, or deposit
of money or anything ofalue made by any person for the purpose of influenamgelection
for Federal office.”ld. 8 431(8)(A)(i). “Contribution” also includes “the payment by any person
of compensation for the personal services of another person which are rendereditioah pol
committeewithout charge for any purposejd. 8 431(8)(A)(ii), as well as “expenditures made
by any person in cooperation, consultation, or concert, with, or at the request ofisnggfest
candidate, his authorized political committees, oirtlagents . . . .” I1d. § 441a(7)(B)(i)
Excluded from the definition of “contribution” is “the value of services provided without
compensation by any individual who volunteers on behalf of a candidate or politicaittesh
(the “volunteer exception”)ld. 8 431(8)(B)(i).

Contributionsare subject to strict limits See, e.g., 88 441a(a)(1)(A),441a(a)(2)(B),
441a(d). Candidatesnay not knowingly accept a contribution in excess o$ehlemits. Id. 8§
441a(f).

In addition to these reporting requirements datiar limits on contributions, FECA also
prohibits corporationandunionsfrom making any contributions in connection with an election

to any political office. Id. § 441b(a). However, independent expenditures by corporations and
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unions in conneatn with elections for political office are lawfulCitizens United v. FEC, 130
S. Ct. 876, 913 (2010).
1. Analysis

While the FEC’s General Counsel believed that Count 1 of Nader’'s complaint wds base
upon a “viable theory—namely, that “spending by corpogalaw firms to remove a candidate
from the ballot may constitute prohibited contributicrshe concluded that “the available facts
do not support the allegationsld. at 1730.10. This ground, adopted by the Commission in its
Factual and Legal Analysisee id. at 183641, formed the basis for the Commission’s
condusion that there was “no reason to believe” that John Kerry, his campaign orgesizati
(“Kerry for President 2004, Inc.” and “Kerdgdwards 2004, Int) or their treasurers, or the
DNC or itstreasurer violated the Adr the Commission’sregulations Id. at 1730.16,1858,
1810 (Findings Nos.-#4). The Court finds that the administrative record and the FEC’s
reasoning (in general) support its decision.

The first problem the Commission iderdd in Nadels complaint was that, althoudie
named over 53 law firms and 95 lawyers that assisted individuals and Democratanstéacal
parties in initiating balleaccess litigation across the country, he did not specify, “with one
exception, whichfirms allegedly provided free services or to whom, which of those firms are
incorporated, and of those, which firms compensated their attorneys who worked otiothe ba
challenges.”ld. at 1730.10,1837. Nadersaysthat this misdescribes his complaint. Pl.’s Mot.
Summ. J. [16l] 13. His complaint, he says, states that the named law firms “provided tair le
services for the benefit of the Kerfydwards Campaign” and that nearly every lawyer working
on the challenges “apparently received normal cors@@on from their law firms.”ld. (quoting
AR at 92). Nader further argues that as to the issue of whether these rawvwere

incorporated, this allegation could be confirmedhry FEC bya simpleinternet searchld.
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The Court finds that the FEC'svaluation of this aspect of Nader's complaint was
reasonabl@nd supported its decisionThemerefact that these law firm®r individual lawyers
employedby them,“intend[ed] to begfit the Kerry-Edwards Campaign AR at 92, would not
maketheir activties “contributions”to the Kerry-Edwards Campaign that would kabjet¢ to
the restrictions of FECA. Even assumithigt the lawyers engaged in this bablatess work
were not acting as volunteers pursuemEECA’s volunteer exception because their fams
paid them their normal compensation while they were engaged in challengleg-Camejo’s
nomination papers in various statasaw firm, whether incorporated or natan spend as much
as it wants exercising its First Amendment right to freedonspdech so long as these
expenditures are not made in coordination with a candidate or political comn8ge€itizens
United, 130 S. Ct. at 913. FECA only restricts “expenditures” made “in cooperation,
consultation, or concert, with, or at the request of suggestion of, a candidate, hiszedthori
political committees, or their agents . . .I1d. 8 441a(7)(B)(i). Howevergol nearly every one of
the 53named firms, Nader doesn'’t tell the FEC how the law firm coordinated with thg—Kerr
Edwards Campaigsuch that its expenditures would constituegulatedcontributions rather
thanprotectedndependent expenditures.

As to these law firms’ corporate status, which is central to Nader'satibegthat they
violated 2 U.S.C§ 441b’s ban on corporat®ntributions, it is not the FEC’s burdenfill in the
necessary blanka Nader’'s complaint This Court’s review of th&3law firms listed in Nader’s
administrative complaint turned up only seven organized as “professional campsfatvith the
others either organized in narorporate forms or listed with no indication of how thee
organized. Ifitis in fact as easy as Nader saysfdrithe FECto confirm that these law firms
are incorporated, Pl.’s Mot. Summ. J. {1p13, then it ought tdhave been equally easy for

Nader to dig up thesemportant facts himself. And, again, whether these law firms are
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incorporated is immaterial if Nader has not provided the FEC with reason to kliak¢gach of
them made expenditures in coordination wte Kerry-Edwards Campaign.

Not all of the FEC’s reasoning, however, is satisfactdrige FEC believed that Nader’s
allegations with respect to one law firrReed Smith—were sufficiently specific, but also found
these allegations to be “contradictory.” AR1730.101837. The FEC notes that in one place
Nader says that Reed Smith billed its costs for a Pennsylvania challenge ee(dexejo’s
nominating papers to “charity, without charging any client,” while elsesvreporting that Reed
Smith received ampensation from the DNC in the amount of $136,142 for “political consulting”
and “legal consulting” fees in October and November 200d. at 1730.16.11, 1837-38.
However, as noted by Nader, Pl’'s Mot. Summ. J.-IJld5-16, calling these allegations
“contradictory” would be a terminological inexactitud& contradiction is a direct logical
inconsistency, such as a “deatlld3eath” or a “virtuous tyrant,” reflecting the axiom that a
thing cannot be and not be at the same time. But it is entirelipjgosat Reed Smith charged
the DNC for some work while also challenging Nadzamejo in Pennsylvania for fre€lhis
aspect of the FEC’s reasoning is irrational.

But as to the crucial issue of coordination, the FEC reasonably determatedader’s
supporting factswere irsufficient. Nader claims thahé Ballot Project, Inc., which he describes
as a Section 527 group established to prepare legal challenges to the ballot tpadifich
candidates for public office, AR at 39, “directed” the badlotess litigation in various states “in
conjunction with the DNC and the Kenfgdwards Campaignjd. at 50, but the FEC noted that
this allegation was insufficient to suggest coordination absent “supporting factsstugghat
the Ballot Project’s effortsvere on behalf of the Kerry Committee or other indicia of concerted

activity . . . .” 1d. at 1852. Although Nader claims that the Ballot Project’s recruitment of law
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firms was “for the express purpose of benefitting the Kétdyvards Campaign,” the mottat
he has alleged igarallel conduct and shared goals, not coordination.

As to Reed Smith, Nader’'s complaint suggests that ties between John Kerry amd,the f
as well aghe fact that 18 of its attorneys worked on a ballmtess challenge to Nad€amejo
in Pennsylvaniagestablishes coordinatiord. at 49-50, but it was not unreasonable for the FEC
to conclude otherwise. That 18 attorneys at a law firm with somewhere north of 1,608yattor
decidedto dedicate their skills to the task of gettitigeir preferred candidate elected, rve
adding the fact the John Kerry may have retained that firm’s services in thenoasdes no
evidence of coordination between Reed Smith or its attorneys and theEehigrds Campaign
with regard to the Pennsylvanbalbt-access litigation. The FECcommissionerslid not act
unreasonably in wanting more from Nader on this point before launching an expensive, tim
consuming, and fareaching investigation of allegations that, by April 2010, had grown long in
thetooth.

The FEC also considered evidence highlighted by Nader as conclusive on the issue of
coordination and found it to be lackingld. at 1853-54, 183839. The firstis an email from
Caroline Adler—described by Nader as a DNC and KeEglwards Campaigemployeejd. at
7—to DNC employees working on challenges to Na@amejo’s nominating papersld. at
160-61. An attachment to themail, titled “Script for Nader Petition Signers,” was allegedly
used by DNC employees when calling people who had signed-MNzateejo petitions.ld. at 7.
However, Nader doesn’t explain how thismail establishesoordination or even between
whom. While Nader claims that the telephone script was authored by a lasgeiated with
the DNC and John Kerry, there remaiasyawning gap between these allegations and the
conclusion that law firms were makinmreportedexpenditures, coordinatesith the DNC or

the Kerry-Edwards Campaign.
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The second-enail is from Judy Rearderwhom Nader describes as the Ke&gwards
Campdgn’s deputy national director for northern New Englanddat 165—to MarthaVan Oot,
a lawyer at Orr & Reno, P.A., which is a New Hampshire law firtd. at 31. The emaill
suggests that Ms. Reardon drafted a complaint challenging Nader's New Hampshinating
papers for variousdividualswho filed it in their namegsome of whom are attorneys) and who
were represented by Ms. Oot as well as Emily Ricmther attornewnt Orr & Reno™ Nader
believes that this -enail demonstrates coordination between “BO&IC and/or the Kerry
Committeé and, one presumes, Orr & Reno. Pl’s Opp’'n Def.’s Mot. Summ. J. [19]h&.
agency, however, credited the DNC’s and the Kerry Committee’s responses tleanthisdid
not support the conclusion that the DNC or igg€ommittee were accepting corporatekind
contributions fromOrr & Reno orany other law firms. AR at 1839854. Even assuminghat
Ms. Reardon’s action could be deemed an action of the DNC or the-Edmgards Campaign,
nothing in the email or itsattachment, or elsewhere in Nadgecomplaint indicates thathese
attorneys or Orr & Reno wemt compensated for this specific work or even how much work
they performed. This is perhaps a reflection of the fact that in naming so many entities and
individuals, Nader’'s complaint (despite its length) is generally short on facipjpbg as to any
given entity or individual. Therefore it is not surprising that the FEC, lookingsa¢-thail, felt
disinclined to investigate Orr & Reno, let alone the etz of other law firms and lawyers

without any connection to thisraail.

! The draft complaint indicates &hit was brought on the behalf of Kathleen Sullivan, Hazel Tremblagie Do
Gizzard, and Brian Farias. AR at 175. Ms. Sullivan is listed in Nader’'s aothpk a “respondentit. at 30, and

is described as the New Hampshire Democratic Party Chair and as a Odl&l. ofeither Ms. Tremblay, Ms.
Gizzard, nor Mr. Farias is elsewhere mentioned in Nader’'s complaint. aMdatth Oot and Emily Rice are listed as
the Orr & Reno attorneys who represented Sullivan, Tremi@#gzard, and Farias in the challengel. at 175.
Both of those attorneys are listed as respondents in Nader's complaigll @s three other attorneys who were
sent an amail in this chain (Mark Atkins, Burt Nadler, and Martin Honigberig). at 31.
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Nader also cites as proof of coordination the testimony, from a 2004 hearing before the
Maine Bureau of Corporations, Elections and Commissiondamfie Democratic Party Chair
Dorothy Melanson. Id. at 4; Pl.’s Opp’n Def.’s Mot. Summ. J. [19] 3. Nadtmimsthat this
testimony shows that Ms. Melanson was directed, by the DNC, to initiate a ballehghao
NaderCamejo in Maine, and that the DNC paid her to do so. AR &VHile this testimony, in
this Court’s opinion, provides some support for them that Ms. Melanson’s activities were
performed in coordination with the DNGee e.g., AR at 106, 108 elsewhere she gives
testimony to the effect that her ballmtcess actity was performed on her ownitiative. Id. at
110. In any event, she testified that the Democratic Party promised toepdor her work,
which raises an obvious problem for Nader’s claim that unreported contributionsnadeesto
the DNC by Ms. Melaren. Id. at 111312. Therefore it was not unreasonable for the FEC to
conclude thathe evidence cited by Nadfailed to supporhis contention that lawyers and law
firms made unreported contributions, in the form of free legal services, to thiehBINCor the
Kerry—Edwards Campaign.

The FECIlikewise determined that Nader’s allegations related to a 2008 Pennsylvania
Grand Jury Presentment failed to support his claim that law firms were makiegorted and
prohibited contributions to the Kerfdwards @mpaign. Id. at 1839. That Presentment
attached to a supplement Nader provided to his administrative compleahs, generally with
alleged misconduct by dozens of Pennsylvania state employees and the use ef farpayfor
campaign purposedd. a 758. In one section of the Presentméanhtat 812-15, it details the
alleged misappropriation of taxpayer resources by state emplmjatsd to a challenge to the
Pennsylvania nominating papers of Nad&amejo. However, according to the FEC’s
reasmablereading of the Presentment, it made “no findings as to the Kerry Committeeeat [R

Smith], and [did] not link any of the activities charged to any activitieknowledge of the
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Kerry Committee, the DNC, lawyers, or to any astoutside of Pennsydwia” |d. at 1840.
The FEC reasonably concluded that the factual allegations in the Presemgravided no
support for Count 1 of Nader’'s complaint.

In sum, the Court’s evaluation of the administrative record and the FEC'’s realsauag
it to conclude that the agency’s determination that, as to Count 1, there was “no reason to
believe” that the DNC, the Kerry Committeleir treasurers, afohn Kerry personally violated
FECA is not contrary to law The fact that the FE@t one pointelievedinternally that this
matter was of a high enforcement priority saet automatically render its ultimadecision to
dismiss contrary to lawSee White v. FEC, No. Civ. A. 942509, 1997 WL 459849, *3 (D.D.C.
July 31, 1997).Nor does it put the lie to tHeEC’s argument that the issue of resource allocation
played an importantole in its decision to dismiss. It seems eminently reasonahleath
complaint involvinghigh-profile political figures and over a hundred groups and individuals was
initially thought by the FEC to merit special attention, but that upon further examirthgo
agency concluded that there was not enough “there” there to warrant a complagatioes

B. Count 2: lllegal and Unreported Contributions and Expenditures

Count 2 of Mr. Nadets administrative complaint accusdbe Service Employees
International Union (“SEIU”) and a Section 527 group called America Coming Together
(“ACT") of making undisclosed contributiorte the DNCin connection with an effort to deny
NaderCamejo ballot atess in Oregon, in violation of 2 U.S.C. 881#(39 and 44&(a)(2)(B).
Id. at 93-94. Naderclaimedthat SEIU violated Section 441b’s ban on union contributions to
national political partiesthat such contributions exceededthe $15,000 limitin Section
441a(a)(2)(B), and thathe unionfurther violated FECA by paying a law firm to investigate
NaderCamejo petitioners and by paying its own staff to participatehe ballotaccess

challenges.AR at 94. The Commission found “no reason to believe” that xGhRtedFECA
14



Id. at 1810. As to SEIUhe FECfailed to notify the unionof Nader's complaint, and Nader’s
allegations with respect b were essentially dismissed when the agency closed the MUR with
respect to “all Respondents and other persons and entities named in the complainitd. at .”
1811.

In evaluating Nader’s allegations and factual suppbg, RECidentified many of the
same problems wittheseallegations vis a vis SEIU and ACT as it found with respeblader’s
allegations in Counl against the DNC, Kerry Committedphn Kerry,and various law firms
and lawyers The FECstated in its General Counsel report amdats factual and legal analyse
that Nader's complaint “does not allege, and the available information does not suwest, t
SEIU’s and ACT'’s activities in Oregon were coordinated with the Kermpi@ittee, the DNC,
or any other entity.”ld. at 1730.19, 1843.

In reaching this conclusiormhe agencyexamined Nader'slaim that SEIU and the DNC
maintained “close politicadnd financial ties” in part because Anna Burg&EIU’s Secretary
Treasurer—is a “DNC official.” 1d. at 76. Nader believes that the fact that Ms. Burger is a
“DNC official” “plainly establishes” reason to believe that ACT and SEIU dmated with the
DNC or the KerryEdwards Committeen the Oregon ballot challenges, Pl.’s Mot. Summ. J.
[16-1] 17. However, the FEC reasonably concluded otheparse its determination is entitled
to deference by this CourfThe FEC determined that the fact that Ms. Burger“imamberat-
large’ of the DNC(which is the lowest level on the DNiGtempole, AR at 38899)provided no
basisfor inferring that she was involvad the DNC’s decisiormaking such that coordination
between the DNC and 8E arosefrom her activitis. AR at 1730.19 (applying 11 C.F.R. §
109.21(d)(2)). Given the dearth of information in Nader's complaint regarding coordination

between the KernEdwards Campaign or the DNC and SEIU or ACT, this Court finds that the
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FEC'’s determination as to the inBaiency of Nader's complaint isupported by the record and
not clearly erroneous.

The FEC also reasonably discounted the evidence Mr. Nader offered to support his claim
that the SEIU maddarge unreportedcontributions to the DNC, thereby violating FEGA
prohibition against labeanion contributions to nationgblitical committees Id. at 76(citing 2
U.S.C. § 441b(a)). Nader’s support for this allegation comes froiaEHd’s website where, in
a press releasthe union statethat it“gave $1 millon to the DNC . . . ."Id. at 523. However,
the FEC concluded that this statement w&asbiguous and didn’t necessarityeanthat SEIU
literally cut a checko the DNC in the amount of $1 millionld. at 1730.19. The FEC also
believed that this stateant, as interpreted by Nader, was essentigfyted by the SEIU in a
prior MUR (also involving a claim that SEIU violated 2 U.S.C. § 441b)wasinot the sort of
statement the union woulde expected to makgublicly if true. Id. at 1730.19. Given thi
apparentefutation and the absence of supporting evidentleeiSEIU’s disclosures to the FEC,

id. at 1730.20, the FEC concluded that Nader’'s allegations were insufficient to warrant an
investigationof eitherSEIU or ACT. Id. This Court, &er revieving Nader’'s complaint and the
FEC’s analysis, concludes thtte FEC’s decision not to pursue these allegations fulther
support inthe record and not contrary to law.

In sum, the Court finds that the FEC’s decision to find “no reason to belieate AGIT
violated FECAand to close the MUR with respect to SEIU and other individuals and groups
connected with Nad&r allegations in Count 2¢l. at 1810-11is not contrary to law.

C. Count 3: Failure to Register

Count 3 of Nadefs administrative complaintalleges that the “Section 527
Respondents™ramely, the National Progress Fumhited Progressives for Victoryniting

People for Victory, the Ballot Project, and Americans for Jefadled to register with the FEC
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as political committeesn violation d FECA. Id. at 9, 18, 19 (citing 2 U.S.C. § 441 seq.).
Nader also claims that these groups knowingly accepted contributions an@éxpadéditures in
violation of the contribution limits in Sections 441a(a)(1) and 441a(a)(®).at 95. Of these
five entities, aly ACT and the Ballot Project responded to Nader's compldsae.id. at 1455
1612.

Upon review of the administrative record and the parties’ arguments, thedGocdilides
that the FEC’s decision not to investigate the allegations delat€ount 3 of Nader’'s complaint
isnot contrary to law As an initial matter,ite FEC’s General Counsel noted that ACT, contrary
to Nader'sallegations was registered as a political committee and had been since RIGSE.
1730.27. The Commissidherefore found that there was “no relieve to believe” that as to ACT,
a violation of 2 U.S.C. 8§ 433 had occurrdd. at 1810. While theagencynoted that ACTin its
response, hadeither confirmed nor denidfat it had made expenditures related todbaltcess
litigation against NadeCamejo,the FECdetermined that an investigatiaf this allegation
would be hampered by the fact that ACT was “essentially [] defuindt,at 1730.27, and
because any sudnvestigation concerningalleged activity morghan five years oldwould
“encounter difficulties with obtaining relevant documents” and “stale withegssomes.” 1d. at
1730.28. Those same issues apply to the Ballot Project, which was dissolved in September 2005.
Id. While Nader argues that th&E is exaggerating the difficulty of investigating these defunct
organizationsthe Court believes that the FEC is in a better position to evaluate its own resource
and the probability of investigatory difficulties than is Mr. Nader.

As to the otheSecton 527 groups-United Progressivefor Victory, Uniting People for
Victory, Americans for Jobs, and the National Progress +#hd FEC recognized that these
groups, based on the allegations in Nader’'s complaint, may have engagedadal potitity that

would have obligated them to register as political committagtsif concluded that each of them
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was either defunct or had ceased operations, and that in those circumgtapoesecutorial
discretion should be exercised to dismiss the allegations as to those dobah4.730.30.

The Court finds that the FEC’s decision to dismiss the complaint as to the Section 527
groups named in Count 3 was not contrary to law, and represeatsonable exercise of the
agency’s considerablprosecutorial discrete  The FEC has “broad discretionary power in
determining whether to investigate a clairarid its decisions to dismiss complaiate entitled
to great deferencas well,as longasit supplies reasonable groundakins, 736 F. Supp. 2d at
21. Nader hasot provided any evidence or presented any arguments that suggest abuse of this
discretion;he appears only to argue that it should hbeenexerciseddifferently. Pl.’s Mot.
Summ. J. [161] 19-20. However, as the Supreme Court has noted, a decisnohitovestigate
a claim involves a complicated balancing of various factors that are “peculiadin fibe
agency'’s] expertise,” including whether a violation has occurred, whethegeheyes resources
are better used elsewhere, whethsractionwoud result in success, and whether there are
sufficient resources available to take any action at ldickler v. Chaney, 470 U.S. 821, 831
(1985).

While, unlike in the Heckler case judicial review is available under FECA to
complainants dissatisfied thithe FEC’s decisi@not to investigatesee 2 U.S.C. § 437¢g(8)(A),
the agency has provided reasonable grounds for not proceeding fuFtineFEC isin a better
position thanis Mr. Nader to evaluate the strength ks complaint, itsown enforement
priorities, the difficultiest expectso encountem investigating Nader’s allegations, and its own
resources.Furthermore, the difficulties identified by the FEC in terms of staleness ofneeide
and the defunctness of several of the groups againgnvitedder has made allegatioase in
large parthe responsibility of Nader, who filed his complaint 3.5 years into 4eab statute of

limitations. Nader appears to argue that the FEC is precluded from making this argument so
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long as he files his complaint within theyBar statute of limitations, Pl.’'s Mot. Summ. J.-{ll]6
19, butthe statute of limitations only provides artl limit on when such actions che brought.
The passage of timeven within the periadwill obviouslyimpair investigationsand the FEC’s
conclusion thalNader’'sdelay would impact the difficulty of anpvestigationis not contrary to
law.

D. Count 4: Allegations Involving the 2006 Romanelli Campaign

What the FEC calls “Count 4” of Nader's complaialates toa series of alleg#ons set
out in an October 2008 supplementNadets administrative complaint AR at 741. That
supplement notified the FEC of new information arismg of a Grand Jury Presentment
released by a Pennsylvania Attorney Genaraluly 2008. Id. In gereral, thePresentment
concernectharges of conspiracy, theft, and conflict of interest against members playees
of the Pennsylvania House Democratic Caucld. Nader claimed that the use of taxpayer
money for campaign purposes alleged in Breseiment was also involved in the Nader
Camejo ballot challenge in that statel. He asked the FEC to name additional respondests (
various Pennsylvaniatate legislators),to investigatethe information in the Presentment to
determine “whether Respdents committed civil violations of FECA,” and refer MUR 6021
as a wholeo the Justice Department for a crimimalestigation Id. at 742. He also asked the
FEC to add additional respondents antb investigate civil violations of FECA related tnm
alleged scheme relating to a ballot challenge against Carl Romarvtediiwasa Green Party
candidatefor United States Senate in 20081. This latter allegation is perhaps most properly
labeled as an additional count, since the information in the rRneset related to Reed Smith
and the state legislators appears to relate only to the allegatiGosiir 1.

As to Nader’s claim related to a balatcess challenge against Carl Romanilitider

appears to have abandoned that claim and does not addrmsgwitere in his summary
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judgment submissions. Nevertheless, the FEC’s decision to close MUR 6021 as to any
respondents and entities associated with Coustnét contrary to law.ld. at 1811. Te FEC
reasonably concluded that Nader’s claim was too speculative to warrant agati@s Id. at
1730.31. For example, Nader alleged in his original complaint in this Courtti&atSenate
campaign of Bob Casey was involved in the challenge to Mr. Romanelli’'s nominaiegsp
usingthe labor ofstate emloyeesand “misappropriated taxpayer funds,” Compl. [1] 19, but the
FEC reasonably concluded that Nader’'s allegations represented an expansivengibges
Presentmentwhich did not charge Mr. Casey, his campaign, or lawyers working on his behalf
with any wrongdoing. AR at 1730.31.

The FEC's decision not to proceed with an investigation of the allegations in Cevast 4
further supported by its determination that a state investigation of criminhaltyaby state
employees was ongoin@nd that an investigation by the FEC would require an extensive
amount of the agency’s limited resourcéd. Particularly given that Mr. Nader fails to present
any arguments to the contrary in his summadgment submissions, the agency’s conclusions
on this score are reasonable and not contrary to law.

While the agency’slecisionto essentially dismiss Countwbuld be entitled to deference
in any case, the Court also notes that Mr. Nader lacks Article Il standibgrg a claim
involving a ballot challenge in adectionfor the U.S. Senatén which he was not a candidate.
To establish standing, a plaintiff must identify an injury in fact that is actual or imtrémeh
traceable to the challenged action of the defendant, and show as well thatatyisaind not
merely speculative, that a favorable decision would redress the plaimififis). Lujan v.
Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560 (1992Mr. Nader has not asserted any injury to him as

a result of the ballo&ccess litigation initiated against Mr. Romanelli.
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In sum, the FEC’s decision to close MUR 6021 as to all respondents and entities
associated with Count 4 of Nader’s complaint, as supplemented, is not contrary to law.

E. The FEC’s Failure to Notify Various Individuals and Entities

Perhaps the most persuasive aspect of Mr. Nader’'s motion is his argument #&Cthe
mishandled his administrative complaint. Elaims that the agency’s decision to dismiss the
complaint should be set aside because it violated FECA by failing to notify dozens of
“respordents” concerning the administrative complaint filed against them. Pl.’s MoimSd.
[16-1] 6-11.

The Court finds that Nader is correct that the FEC'’s failure to notify all pewswhs
entities whowerealleged to have violated thect wasimproper. FECA says very clearly that
“[w]ithin 5 days after receipt of a complaint, the Commissa| notify, in writing, any person
alleged in the complaint to have committed [a violationFBICA].” 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(1)
(emphasis added)The FEC has not identified any statutory or other authority for the proposition
that despite the Act's clear language, has discretion to notify whomever it wants as
“respondents” to the administrative complainThe statute clearlgtrips the agency of that
discretion While the FEC may be correct thais interpreted byr. Nader and this Court,
FECA provides complainants with a means to harass their opponents with frivolousiotampla
and tax the agency’s limited resourcBef.’s Mot. Summ. J. [18] 20, it is not withthe FEC’s
or this Court’s power to “interpret” away a clear lawstve these problemsCorrecting ilt
advised legislation is @aesponsibilityentrusted to Congress alonéy failing to notify the
dozens of individuals and groups named in Nader's tantp the FEC clearly violated the
procedural requirements of FECA.

However, despite this clear defect in the FEC’s handling of Nader's adntimestra

complaint, this was harmless error. The FEC's failure to follow the not@egures in Section
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437gof FECA should be disregarded lopurts if such errors are harmlessEC v. Club For
Growth, Inc., 432 F. Supp. 2d 87, 90 (D.D.C.) (quotingolin Sec. Sav. Bank v. Office of Thrift
Supervision, 139 F.3d 203, 212 (D.C. Cir. 1998)While Nader says thdahe FEC’s failure to
follow FECA's procedural requiremestvas “no harmless error,” Pl.’s Mot. Summ. J.{1l612,
he doesn’specifically identifythe harm to him that flowed from the FE@sor.

At various points in his submissions, Nader suggests that certain information that woul
have been useful to the FEC could have been obtained if it had served each and every one of the
persons and entities named in his administrative complaint, but at no time is it clégrdbisiy
so a benefit to Nader wadi have resulted. The Court finds no reason to believe that had the
FEC properly notified all alleged “respondents,” it would have reached a difféeergionin
this case See City of Portland v. EPA, 507 F.3d 706, 716 (D.C. Cir. 2007#or example, Nader
claims that the FEC could have obtained information about law firms’ billirgdedy serving
them with his administrative complajnPl.’s Mot. Summ. J. [1d] 14, but this doesn’t
accurately describe what woub@cessariljhavefollowed the FEC’snotification of these firms
First, none of those law firms was required to respongrovide any information absent a
subpoena Second, even if they did chooser¢éspondwith evidence of their billing practices
there is no reason to think that theéssponses would contain information favorable to Nader.
Nader assumes the same elsewhere, when he states that theg FFB&d served SEIU with
Nader’s complaintywould have confirmed that the union made illegal unreported contributions to
the DNC 1Id. at 18. However, nothing indicates trgtch confirmation would have resulted
from proper notification of SEIU. e FECdid evaluate Nader’allegationsas to SEIU, and it
determined thalNaderhadn’t given the agency enough information it to conclude that an
investigationof the union, let alone service of the complambuld produce evidenoaf FECA

violations.
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The notice procedures set out in Section 4379 are for the benefit of those whom Nader
alleges violated the Act, not for Nader’s beneftinceMUR 6021was closed as to all persons
and entities nameth Nader's complaintthe only persons and entities who could have been
prejudicedby the FEC’srrorwere ultimately absolved of liability.

Therefore the Court finds that the FEC’s failurefaétlow the notice requirements of
Section 4379 is harmless.

IV.  CONCLUSION

Although the FEC’s decisiomaking in this case wasat timesof less than ideal clarity,
and although its practices with respect to mifon of respondents merit the agen@ttention
given the drift this Court has observed between those practices and the proceginahents
of FECA, the agency’slecision in this case isot contrary to law Therefore, dr the reasons
stated above, the Court will grant defendant’s Motion [18] for Summary Judgment iand de
plaintiff's Motion [16] for Summary Judgment.

A separate Order consistent with this Memorandum Opinion shall issue this date.

Signed by Royce C. Lamberth, Chief Judge, on November 9, 2011.
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